

# Tax and Investment Facts

A Glimpse at Taxation and Investment in Turkey 2022



# WTS Turkey Turkey

WTS Turkey provides specialist tax, legal, corporate, customs advisory and transactional services to resident and non-resident companies doing business in Turkey ranging from advisory and compliance, business regulations from start-ups to liquidations, employment, commercial dealings, re-organisations and outsourcing.

Services rendered by WTS Turkey include the following:

- » Tax and business consultancy services
- » International tax applications and international tax planning
- » Tax optimisation and planning services
- » Tax dispute consultancy
- » Tax reporting, compliance, governance and due diligence services
- » Tax refund advisory and representation services
- » Sworn fiscal advisory services
- » Transfer pricing services
- » Tax strategy and strategic planning of cross-border commerce and services
- » Tax exemptions and incentives advisory and related transactional advice and planning
- » Strategic tax services related to M&A, corporate and group restructuring and restructuring of transactions
- » Cross-border structuring and CFC compliance
- » Customs advisory
- » Corporate legal advisory
- » Foreigners work permit and social security applications
- » Employee incentive advice and remuneration policy

## **Contact in Turkey**

Mithat Erdoğan, Tax Consultant mithat.erdogan@wts-turkey.com +90 212 347 4125

WTS Turkey is a member of WTS Global for Turkey.



## **Table of Contents**

1. Ways of Doing Business / Legal Forms of Companies	4
2. Corporate Taxation	6
3. Double Taxation Agreements	18
4. Transfer Pricing	19
5. Anti-Avoidance Measures	20
6. Taxation of Individuals / Social Security Contributions	23
7. Indirect Taxes	27
8. Inheritance and Gift Tax	30
9. Wealth Tax	31
LO. Property Tax	31
11. Stamp Tax	32
12. Special Consumption Tax	33
L3. Resource Utilisation Support Fund	34
L4. Real Estate Investment Companies	35
L5. Debt Push Down	37



# 1. Ways of Doing Business / Legal Forms of Companies

The new Turkish Commercial Code numbered 6102 (New TCC), which came into effect on 1 July 2012 has introduced essential changes to create a more foreign-investor-friendly environment in Turkey. In light of the new Turkish Commercial Code, the principal types of business structure can be categorised under 5 subheadings: joint-stock company (JSC), limited liability company (LLC), commandite company, collective company and cooperative company. Besides branch and liaison offices, limited liability and joint stock companies are the most preferred types of legal structures by foreign investors due to the liability position of the shareholders.

#### In general:

 JSCs are appropriate for foreign investors envisaging large-scale projects. Furthermore, some of the business activities, such as stock exchange activities, banking &

- insurance, financial leasing, factoring, independent auditing, venture capital investment, etc. might only be carried out through JSCs.
- → LLCs are the most popular form of company among foreign investors due to the straightforward incorporation procedure and basic characteristics.
- → A cooperative company is preferred by investors envisaging agricultural activities.
- → Collective and Commandite companies, respectively, correspond to general partnerships and limited partnerships in other countries
- → Branches might be considered the most suitable alternative for foreign companies which need a permanent establishment (PE) in Turkey.

#### Comparison between JSC and LLC Joint-stock companies (JSC) Limited liability companies (LLC) Number of shareholders minimum 1 shareholder – no upper limit minimum 1 – maximum 50 shareholders (real persons or corporations) Minimum share capital TRY 50,000 (EUR 3,114) TRY 10,000 (EUR 623) limited to the subscribed amount of capital, however, shareholders Shareholder liability limited to the subscribed amount of capital regardless of payment status; and legal representatives might be held personally liable to however, members of the board of the public authorities for unpaid public debts of the company directors might be held personally commensurate to their share capital liable to the public authorities for unpaid public debts of the company commensurate to their share capital **Board of Directors** Partners Assembly Statutory organs General Assembly Directors nominal value of each share in the capital TRY 25 (EUR 1.557) or multiples of this Shares nominal value of each share in the capital TRY 1 (EUR 0.06) amount Full payment of capital before the registration is not mandatory. However, a cash contribution of at least 25% of the capital should be made Payment of capital to a blocked account opened at a bank before the registration is made at the trade registry. The remaining portion of the capital should be paid within 24 months of the registration.



# 2. Corporate Taxation

The new Corporate Tax Law numbered 5520 was enacted on 21 June 2006 along with the legislative amendments regarding transfer pricing and thin capitalisation, while previous regulations were modernised and aligned with international standards. Also, new provisions were introduced such as controlled foreign corporations, anti-tax haven legislation and several BEPS-like regulations.

The standard corporate tax rate for the 2022 FY is 23%.

#### 2.1. Applicable Taxes / Tax Rates

In general, companies in Turkey are subject to corporate income tax on their worldwide income. The mainstream Corporate Income Tax (CIT) in Turkey is 23% for the 2022 FY.

## 2.2. Resident Companies

Entities with legal and business centres located in Turkey qualify as residents and are taxed based on their worldwide income. The legal centre is presented in the articles of association and the business centre is the place where the main business and commercial activities are concentrated.

An advance corporate income tax return should be submitted by the 14<sup>th</sup> of the second month following the quarter. It is also due on the 17<sup>th</sup> of the second month following the quarter.

- → Q1 deadline: by the 17<sup>th</sup> of the second month following the first quarter (for submission) and by the 17<sup>th</sup> of the related month for payment
- → Q2 deadline: by the 17<sup>th</sup> of the second month following the second quarter (for submission) and by the 17<sup>th</sup> of the related month for payment
- → Q3 deadline: by the 17<sup>th</sup> of the second month following the third quarter (for submission) and by the 17<sup>th</sup> of the related month for payment

The advance corporate income tax return for Q4 is abolished in accordance with Law No. 7338.

The paid advance tax amounts during the corresponding financial year are offset against the final corporate income tax liability of the company that will be determined in the corresponding year's corporate income tax return. Moreover, if the total paid amount of advance corporate income tax exceeds the actual corporate income tax payable, the company will be entitled to a corporate income tax refund.

A corporate income tax return must be submitted by the 30<sup>th</sup> day of the fourth month after the end of the accounting year. The corporate income tax is also due by the end of the month in which the tax return is submitted.

The effective CIT rate to be applied for 2022 is 23%.

## 2.2.1. Computation of Taxable Income

The calculation of the taxable corporate income starts with making the compulsory legal adjustments, where capital items are abolished and statutory allowances and disallowances are applied on the income shown on the commercial balance sheet. Non-deductible expenses are added and exempted incomes as well as loss carry forwards are deducted accordingly. Deductible and non-deductible expenses are all separately listed in the law. Tax losses may be carried forward for 5 years.

computation of FY22 CIT commercial loss / profit non-deductible expenses c exemptions
<b>b</b> non-deductible expenses
-
c overnations
c exemptions
<b>d=a+b-c</b> loss/gain
<b>e</b> previous year's losses
<b>f=d-e</b> tax base
g=f*23% calculated tax



#### 2.2.2. Tax Reduction for Compliant Taxpayers

Income Tax Law No. 193 was amended in March 2017 to provide a 5% discount for eligible taxpayers who consistently file their tax returns on time and have no outstanding tax liability.

- → All tax returns with respect to the year the tax discount will be applied, and to the previous 2 years, must be submitted by the statutory deadline. In addition, the taxes due must be paid by the statutory deadline (the period 2015-2017 will be considered for evaluating eligibility for the discount to be applied in 2018).
- → The taxpayer should not be subject to any additional tax assessment by the Turkish tax authorities in the year the discount is applied and in the 2 preceding years. Furthermore, if the finalised tax assessment amount is less than 1% of the reduced limit (which is TRY 15,000 roughly EUR 935 for 2021) the corresponding condition is deemed fulfilled. Tax returns designated for correction or for voluntary disclosure purposes are not regarded as a violation of the condition.
- → The taxpayer should not have any unpaid tax debt exceeding TRY 1,000 (EUR 62). The discount is applicable for annual corporate and income tax returns to be submitted after 1 January 2018, and the amount to be deducted should not exceed TRY 1,500,000 (EUR 93,432).

Taxpayers should be careful with utilising this tax reduction opportunity during the tax declaration process.

#### 2.2.3. Taxation of Dividends

Dividends paid out by Turkish residents to a company overseas are liable for dividend withholding tax. The rate of withholding tax is 15% and may be reduced in accordance with the provisions of an applicable tax treaty.

The former dividend withholding tax rate was 15% but it was reduced to 10%. In this respect, dividends paid by a Turkish corporation to a resident or non-resident indi-

vidual or to a non-resident company trigger a 10% effective dividend withholding tax liability, effective from 22 December 2021.

However, there are 2 different participation exemptions:

#### **National participation exemption**

Dividends derived by a resident company from a participation in another Turkish corporation are exempt from corporate income tax.

#### Foreign participation exemption

Dividends derived from a participation in a foreign corporation or limited liability company are exempt from corporate tax under the following conditions:

- → equity participation of at least 10% in a foreign corporation for a minimum uninterrupted period of one year
- → the profits from which the dividends are paid were subject to a foreign income tax of at least 15%¹

Participation income should be transferred to Turkey until the due date for the corporate tax declaration of the respective financial year.

# 2.2.4. Capital Gains and Losses (Including Capital Gains and Losses from Sales of Shares)

The taxation of capital gains varies depending on the asset giving rise to the capital gain. Generally, capital gains are included in the income and subject to 22% corporate income tax. Taxation of a capital gain realised from the sale of the shares varies based on the legal status of a company. However, 50% of the capital gains derived from the sale of property or 75% of the participation shares held by corporations for more than 2 years are exempt from corporate income tax if certain conditions are met.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The profits from which the dividends are paid were subject to a foreign income tax of at least 20% if the respective entity falls into the category of financial institutions, insurance providers and real estate investors.



## 2.2.5. Depreciation / Capital Allowances

Fixed assets held for more than one year are subject to depreciation at varying rates determined by the Turkish Ministry of Finance. Depreciation can be calculated either using the straight-line or the declining-balance method. Intangible assets are depreciated over 15 years.

In accordance with the provisions of Law No. 7338:

- → The repeated Article 298 of the Tax Procedural Law is amended. In accordance with this amendment, income and corporate taxpayers (except those who apply inflation adjustments and keep their ledgers in foreign currency) who choose to revalue their depreciable economic assets and the depreciation amounts in their balance sheets can revalue under certain conditions if they choose to.
- → New depreciable economic assets (except passenger cars which are subject to pro-rata depreciation) may be depreciated on a daily basis (for assets acquired after 26 October 2021).
- → The useful life of certain newly acquired depreciable economic assets such as new machinery and equipment acquired by taxpayers who have industrial registration certificates that can be used exclusively in R&D, innovation, the manufacturing industry and design activities can be half the useful life determined and announced by the Turkish Ministry of Finance.
- The cost value measure has been clarified by defining mandatory and non-obligatory elements explicitly and in detail.
- → In accordance with Article 328 of the Tax Procedural Law, capital gains stemming from the sale of fixed assets which will be replaced with similar assets can be kept on a temporary account for 3 years without triggering any tax liability. However, the beginning of this 3-year period was controversial (whether it would start in the year the fixed asset was sold, or in the following year) and there were uncertainties in this respect. Law No. 7338 clearly states that the

3-year period will start from the beginning of the year in which the fixed asset was sold.

→ Article 261 of the Tax Procedural Law is amended and a definition for "purchase value" is added to the corresponding article.

#### 2.2.6. Inflation Accounting

In accordance with the repeated Article 298 of Turkish Tax Procedural Law, if the increase in the price index in the last 3 periods including the current period is more than 10%, and more than 10% in the current period, income and corporate tax-payers who determine their earnings based on balance sheet indicators shall make inflation adjustments on their financial statements. The inflation adjustment shall no longer be carried out when both of the conditions are not met.

Since the Domestic Producer Price index (D-PPI) in Turkey has been more than 100% for the last 3 financial years (including 2021), and more than 10% in 2021, inflation accounting should be applied for FY 2021.

Inflation accounting was not applied in the past 17 years. It was applied last for FY 2003 at the beginning of 2004.

The Ministry of Finance has still to make any official announcement in this respect, it is still not clear whether inflation accounting will be applied for FY 2021 or not.

## 2.2.7. Limitation on Financial Expenses Deduction

In accordance with Presidential Decree No. 3490, corporate and income taxpayers whose borrowings exceed equity will not be able to deduct 10% of their financial expenses (such as interest, commission, exchange rate differences, maturity differences). The corresponding 10% of financial expenses will be considered non-deductible expenses.



# 2.2.8. Loss Carry Over (Including Potential Loss of Tax Loss Carry Forward in Case of Restructuring)

Tax losses can be carried forward for 5 years without any further requirements, though losses cannot be carried back. Qualifying tax losses can be consolidated in merger transactions.

## 2.2.9. Group Taxation

Group taxation is not possible in Turkey. Every entity within a group is taxed separately as an independent unit and must file its own corporate tax return.

## 2.2.10. Relief from Double Taxation (Tax Credit / Tax Exemption)

Depending on the tax treaty, 2 main methods, the exemption method or the credit method, are adopted in conventions for the avoidance of double taxation.

## 2.2.11. Tax Incentives in Turkey

The Turkish government has developed several tax incentives to encourage and attract foreign direct investment. These incentives can be categorised under 4 main headings:

- → general investment incentives
- regional investment incentives
- → large-scale investment incentives
- strategic investment incentives

Support instruments	General investment incentives	Regional investment incentives	Large-scale investment incentives	Strategic investment incentives
VAT exemption	✓	✓	✓	✓
Customs duty exemption	✓	✓	✓	✓
Tax reduction	Х	✓	✓	✓
Social security premium support (employer's share)	Х	<b>✓</b>	<b>✓</b>	<b>✓</b>
Income tax withholding allowance*	✓	<b>✓</b>	<b>✓</b>	<b>✓</b>
Social security premium support (employee's share)*	Х	<b>√</b>	<b>√</b>	<b>√</b>
Interest rate support**	х	✓	х	✓
Land allocation	Х	✓	✓	✓
VAT refund	Х	Х	Х	✓

<sup>\*</sup> provided that the investment is made in Region 6

#### Regions

**Region 1:** Ankara, Antalya, Bursa, Eskisehir, İstanbul, İzmir, Kocaeli, Muğla

**Region 2:** Adana, Aydın, Bolu, Çanakkale\*, Denizli, Edirne, Isparta, Kayseri, Kırklareli, Konya, Sakarya, Tekirdağ, Yalova

**Region 3:** Balıkesir, Bilecik, Burdur, Gaziantep, Karabük, Karaman, Manisa, Mersin, Samsun, Trabzon, Uşak, Zonguldak

**Region 4:** Afyonkarahisar, Amasya, Artvin, Bartın, Çorum, Düzce, Elazığ, Erzincan, Hatay, Kastamonu, Kırıkkale, Kırşehir, Kütahya, Malatya, Nevşehir, Rize, Sivas

**Region 5:** Adıyaman, Aksaray, Bayburt, Çankırı, Erzurum, Giresun, Gümüşhane, Kahramanmaraş, Kilis, Niğde, Ordu, Osmaniye, Sinop, Tokat, Tunceli, Yozgat

**Region 6:** Ağrı, Ardahan, Batman, Bingöl, Bitlis, Diyarbakır, Hakkari, Iğdır, Kars, Mardin, Muş, Siirt, Şanlıurfa, Şırnak, Van, Bozcada and Gökçeada

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> provided that the investment is made in Regions 3, 4, 5 or 6 within the framework of the Regional Investment Incentive Scheme

<sup>\*</sup> except for Bozcaada and Gökçeada



## 2.3. Non-Resident Companies

Companies whose legal and business centre is located overseas and are incorporated as non-residents for tax purposes in Turkey have a limited tax liability position in Turkey. As a non-resident qualified company, taxes are only levied on the income derived from Turkey.

## 2.3.1. Concept of Permanent Establishment / Doing Business

The definition of a permanent establishment is regulated under Turkish Tax Procedure Law. In this respect, those who have a fixed place of business and generate income from commercial, industrial, agricultural or professional activities are deemed to have a permanent establishment in Turkey. Business profits derived through a permanent establishment in Turkey will be assessed in the same way as for resident companies, and tax liabilities on behalf of the headquarters situated overseas must be fulfilled.

## 2.3.2. Withholding Taxes

The general withholding tax rate in Turkey is 20%, but this may be reduced under the provisions of an applicable double tax treaty. The amount of domestic withholding tax differs based on the following income:

Income	Percentage*
Professional independent services	20%
Dividend	10%**
Interest (deposit)	0% - 18%***
Interest (loans) paid to non-financial institutions	10%
Royalty	20%
Rental fees	20%
Multi-year construction	5%
Cross-border online advertising services	0% - 15%
Petroleum services	5%

<sup>\*</sup> unless a treaty provides for a lower rate

# 2.3.3. Capital Gains

Capital gains derived from the sale of shares by non-resident companies that do not have a permanent establishment in Turkey are not subject to withholding tax or corporate income tax provided that the holding terms indicated within the double tax treaties are observed.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> in accordance with Presidential Decree No. 4396, the withholding tax applicable for dividend payments is reduced from 15% to 10%

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> effective withholding tax rate to be applied on interest income derived from time deposits depends on the maturity and the currency (Turkish Lira or foreign currency deposits)



## 2.4. Tax Compliance

Business profits of resident and non-resident entities having a permanent establishment in Turkey are assessed in the same way as for local companies in terms of their income generated in Turkey. Consequently, a registered permanent establishment is also obliged to file an annual corporate income tax and quarterly provisional corporate income tax declarations. Corporations are entitled to use the calendar year as their fiscal year, while a special fiscal year is also possible, subject to permission from the Ministry of Finance. Certain companies are obliged to hire an independent auditor.

Companies subject to independent auditing are determined by the following criteria:

- → total asset value of TRY 35,000,000 (roughly EUR 2,180,000) or more
- → annual net sales revenue of TRY 70,000,000 (roughly EUR 4,360,000) or more
- → employ at least 175 employees

Tax returns must be filed by the following deadlines:

Type of declaration	Deadline for filing declaration	Payment deadline for declaration
Annual corporate tax return	between 1 <sup>st</sup> and 30 <sup>th</sup> of the fourth month following the fiscal year end	latest by the end of the month that the return is filed
Provisional corporate tax return (quarterly)	between 1 <sup>st</sup> and 17 <sup>th</sup> of the second month follow- ing the 3-month tax quar- ters of Q1, Q2, Q3 and Q4	latest by the 17 <sup>th</sup> of the month for which the return is filed
Withholding tax return (monthly)	between 1 <sup>st</sup> and 26 <sup>th</sup> of the following month	latest by the 26 <sup>th</sup> of the month for which the return is filed
Withholding tax return for businesses that have 10 or fewer employees (quarterly)	between 1 <sup>st</sup> and 26 <sup>th</sup> of the month following the 3-month tax quarters of Q1, Q2 and Q3	latest by the 26 <sup>th</sup> of the month for which the return is filed
VAT return (monthly)	between 1st and 26th of the following month	latest by the 26 <sup>th</sup> of the month for which the return is filed
Reverse charge VAT return	between 1 <sup>st</sup> and 26 <sup>th</sup> of the following month	latest by the 26 <sup>th</sup> of the month for which the return is filed
Stamp tax return	between 1 <sup>st</sup> and 26 <sup>th</sup> of the month following that in which the document is signed / issued	latest by the 26 <sup>th</sup> of the month for which the return is filed
Annual post-closing trial balance declaration	latest till the end of the fourth month following the fiscal year end	no payment required

Non-compliance with the tax filing and payment of assessed tax may result in irregularity fines and delayed interest payments. Also, procedural penalties are imposed in the event of failure to comply with statutory accounting principles.



## 3. Double Taxation Agreements

Turkey has an extensive tax treaty network to avoid double taxation and to attract foreign investment. The OECD Model Tax Convention on Avoidance of Double Taxation serves as the basis for Turkey's tax treaties. Turkey has currently concluded 85 bilateral tax agreements and also other drafts of treaties are awaiting ratification by governments.

Turkey also signed the Multilateral Tax Instrument (MLI) in Paris on June 2017. The MLI entered into force in July 2018 after the approval of the MLI by the first 5 countries in March 2018.

Turkey has reservations for the MLI articles mentioned below:

- → Article 4: dual resident entities
- → Article 5:application of methods for elimination of double taxation
- → Article 6: purpose of a covered tax agreement
- → Article 8: dividend transfer transactions
- → Article 9: capital gains from alienation of the shares or interest of entities deriving their value principally from immovable property
- Article 10: anti-abuse rule for permanent establishments situated in third iurisdictions
- Article 11: application of tax agreements to restrict a party's right to tax its own residents
- → Article 14: splitting-up of contracts

The MLI is not effective in Turkey since the approval process to be completed by the local executive authority is not completed yet.

# 4. Transfer Pricing

Since the launch of specific transfer pricing rules as of the beginning of 1 January 2007, transfer pricing has become one of the most prioritised tax topics in Turkey. The legal framework for transfer pricing is found in the Turkish Corporate Tax Code and published communiques. The content is generally in line with the OECD Transfer Pricing Guideline. In order to avoid artificial profit shifting by (inter)national group companies, taxpayers must select the most appropriate transfer pricing method during their intercompany transactions. The comparable uncontrolled price method (CUP), the cost plus method (C+) the resale price method (RPM) and transactional profit method are the methods which can be used to determine the arm's length price. Other methods like the profit split method and taxpayer-determined methods can also be selected. Taxpayers have the opportunity to request advance approval from the Turkish Ministry of Finance concerning the "most appropriate" method to be implemented during their transactions (i.e. advanced pricing agreements). Corporate taxpayers are obliged to keep and submit necessary documentation which shows their transactions and the selected method for determining the arm's length price during their transactions with related parties. An annual transfer pricing documentation report is mandatory for corporations who have realised transactions with their (overseas) related parties.



#### 5. Anti-Avoidance Measures

Turkey has always had a supportive position for anti-avoidance measures. The current legislation already contains a number of anti-avoidance rules which are in line with the BEPS project deliverables. Some specific anti-avoidance measures are highlighted below.

#### 5.1. General Anti-Avoidance Rule

The general anti-avoidance rule (GAAR) is adopted in the Turkish Tax Procedural Code which relies on the substance over form principle. The Turkish tax authorities regularly resort to this rule by disregarding the form of the transaction and tracing the main purpose of the taxable event.

#### 5.2. Thin Capitalisation Rules

Resident group companies are allowed to procure loans from related parties (including non-resident group companies operating in Turkey through a branch or permanent establishment). Turkey employs a ratio approach by referring to a specific ratio of debt-to-equity in order to limit the cross-border shifting of profit through excessive debt. Thin capitalisation rules apply if intercompany loans from related parties exceed 3 times the value of shareholder's equity at any time during the accounting period. The excess is considered as thin capitalisation. Consequently, the interest on related foreign exchange losses and other similar expenses calculated over the loan will be non-deductible for corporate tax purposes and subject to withholding tax.

## 5.3. Controlled Foreign Company Provisions

The controlled foreign corporation (CFC) regime is designed to prevent the diversion of profits generated in Turkey to low-tax territories. CFC rules require that a resident company owns at least a 50% interest in a non-resident company and:

- → 25% or more of the gross revenue of the CFC is composed of passive income
- the CFC is subject to an effective income tax rate of less than 10% on its commercial profits in its country of residence
- → the annual gross revenue of the CFC exceeds the foreign currency equivalent of TRY 100,000 (roughly EUR 6,228)

If all of the above conditions are met, the profits of the CFC are apportioned to the business profits of the Turkish corporation and taxed at a rate of 20% in Turkey.

## 5.4. Others (e.g. Subject-to-Tax Clauses)

The Turkish Corporate Tax Code introduces anti-abuse provisions regarding payments made to low-tax jurisdictions. Accordingly, any payments made either in cash or on account to persons resident in countries that are considered low-tax jurisdictions are subject to 30% withholding tax. The criterion of being a low-tax jurisdiction is determined by the Council of Ministers based on the taxation capacity and exchange of information criteria. The Council of Ministers has not specified these countries yet. However, it is expected that the approach of the Council of Ministers will be in line with the OECD approach.

Over the last couple of years the Turkish tax authority has taken action with respect to certain BEPS Action plans which can be seen below:

- → Action 1: digital economy
- → Action 4: interest deductions
- → Action 8-10: TP
- → Action 13: TP documentation
- → Action 15: MII



# 6. Taxation of Individuals / Social Security Contributions

In accordance with Presidential Decree no. 2151 which took effect as of 25 February 2020, several amendments were made to Article 13 of Corporate Income Tax Code number 5520. These amendments, which mainly include regulations regarding the OECD BEPS Action – 13 TP Documentation, are as follows:

- → update of "related party" definition
- definition of several new concepts
- → regulating country by country report (CbCR) and master file within the scope of the TP documentation requirement
- → revision of advance pricing agreement (APA) mechanism
- 50% discount on tax penalties with respect to disguised profit distribution through transfer pricing
- other amendments

One of the principal taxes in Turkey is personal income tax (Law No. 193) which was originally passed in 1961 and has been amended many times over the years. This tax is levied at a progressive rate on individuals residing in Turkey. This tax revenue is an important source of income for the Turkish government.

## 6.1. Residency Rules

Individuals who reside in Turkey for more than 6 months in any calendar year are deemed residents in Turkey and are fully liable for taxation on their worldwide income. Non-residents are only taxed on their income generated in Turkey. These are individuals who reside in Turkey for less than 6 months during the calendar year and whose centre of vital interests is not concentrated in Turkey. Individuals who remain in Turkey for more than 6 months for a specific and short-term assignment are also considered non-residents for tax purposes.

#### 6.2. Income Liable to Tax

Specific provisions concerning the taxation of each category are spelled out in relevant sections of the Personal Income Tax Law. The source of personal income is listed in the law in 7 categories: commercial earnings, agricultural earnings, wage and salary income, independent professional service income, income generated from real estate, dividend and interest income and miscellaneous profits and earnings.

Just as significant as the type of income is where the income is generated, i.e. inside or outside Turkey. Foreigners who have full tax liability status in Turkey are taxed on their income derived either in Turkey or outside Turkey.



#### 6.3. Allowable Deductions

Turkish Income Tax Law includes several deductions and allowances for each of the income categories. Some important deductions and allowances are:

- compulsory pension contributions and social security premiums
- → individual business expenses
- private life and health insurance payments (limited)
- education expense

#### 6.4. Tax Rates

Income tax is levied on taxable income at a progressive rate after the application of allowed deductions and allowances.

A new bracket (40%) was added to the income tax tariff and personal income tax rates on income and earnings for employment income and earnings as of 1 January 2020.

Employment income tax rates as of 1 January 2022 are:

Taxable income (TRY)	Tax on column 1 (TRY)	Tax on excess percentages
0 - 32,000	4,800	15%
32,000 - 70,000	12,400	20%
70,000 - 250,000	61,000	27%
250,000 - 880,000	281,500	35%
880,000 and above		40%

Personal income tax rates as of 1 January 2022 are:

Taxable income (TRY)	Tax on column 1 (TRY)	Tax on excess percentages
0 - 32,000	4,800	15%
32,000 - 70,000	12,400	20%
70,000 - 170,000	39,400	27%
170,000 - 880,000	287,900	35%
880,000 and above		40%

## 6.5. Tax Compliance

The annual declaration is used by individuals to consolidate profits and earnings derived from various sources in the course of one calendar year. An individual whose income is derived only from a wage is not obliged to file an annual income tax declaration in Turkey. The employer deducts tax from the employee and transfers it to the tax authority every month. However, wage earners receiving a wage from more than one employer within a calendar year and where the amount of income exceeds a certain limit, must file a personal income tax declaration in Turkey based on their total salaried income.

Individuals who receive rental income are also obliged to file an annual tax declaration by 25 March of the following year, which is the due date for submitting an annual income tax return for an accounting year.

As of 1 January 2020, employees whose wage income exceeds the relevant threshold for the 40% tax rate bracket are required to file an annual income tax return, regardless of whether those wages were earned from a single employer or more than one employer.



## 7. Indirect Taxes

Furthermore, non-resident individuals who are not obliged to submit an annual income tax return should also submit a special income tax return for their income generated from certain gains specified in Turkish Income Tax Law. This special income tax return should be submitted within 15 days of the related transaction.

#### 6.6. Social Security Contributions

Public sector workers and private sector workers are covered by the Social Security Law. Foreigners who reside in Turkey and where their home country has signed a social security treaty with Turkey are exempt from the provisions of the Social Security Law provided there is full compliance with the conditions of the given social security agreement.

There are 3 major types of indirect tax in Turkey, namely, value added tax levied on the consumption of goods and services, taxes on foreign trade and stamp tax.

## 7.1. Value Added Tax / Goods and Services Tax

The implementation of value added tax in Turkey is similar to practices in force in other European countries and levied at each stage in the chain of producing and distributing goods and services. As a main rule, all deliveries of goods and services that take place in Turkey are subject to VAT. VAT is also levied on the supply and import of goods and services. The VAT rate is 18%, but there are also reduced rates of 1% for agricultural products, newspapers, magazines and houses (based on certain conditions stated in the law) and 8% for basic foods, medical products and books. Exports of goods and services are exempt from VAT. There is no turnover threshold for VAT registration in Turkey. Any person or entity engaged in an activity within the scope of the VAT law must register for tax purposes. Registration for VAT purposes only is not possible in Turkey. Reverse charge VAT payments are applicable for services from non-resident individuals and entities.

Furthermore, in accordance with the amendment realised in January 2018, VAT stemming from electronically provided services by non-resident businesses to non-taxpayer real persons must be declared and paid by those non-resident businesses (such as non-resident e-service providers) through VAT return No. 3.

#### 7.2. Transfer Taxes

Transfer tax is levied on the acquisition of property in Turkey corresponding to 4% of the sales price. Normally this tax is split between the buyer and the seller (each bearing 2%), though it is also possible for one party to bear the whole amount.

Fee must be paid to the tax office before the transaction is made at the registrar.



## 7.3. Digital Services Tax

In accordance with Law no. 7194 (DST law) which came into force on 7 December 2019 and the Communiqué which was published on 20 March 2020 by the Ministry of Treasury and Finance in Turkey, a 7.5% digital services tax (DST) will be applicable for several services mentioned below, effective from 1 March 2020.

The DST will apply in Turkey to revenues generated from the services mentioned below, such as;

- all digital advertisement services (including advertisement supervision and performance measurement services, data transmission and management services relating to users, including technical services for viewing advertisements)
- sales of any audible, visual or digital content (including computer software, applications, audio, video, games, in-game applications and similar content) and services provided on digital media for listening, watching and playing said content, or recording or using them in electronic devices)
- → services provided for creating and operating digital media in which users may interact with each other (including services which allow or facilitate the sale of products or services between users)

Revenues obtained from intermediation services provided by digital service providers in the digital media for the above-mentioned services are also subject to the digital services tax according to the aforementioned article.

Those who generated revenue from digital services in the previous accounting period of the related accounting period of less than

- TRY 20,000,000 generated in Turkey or
- → EUR 750,000,000 or the Turkish lira equivalent generated from across the world

will be exempt from the DST.

The DST will be applied to digital service providers regardless of their tax residency status. Being full taxpayers or non-residents performing activities in Turkey through a permanent establishment or permanent representative will not make any difference for the purposes of the tax liability.

DST payments can be considered corporate tax deductibles from the taxpayer's taxable income regarding personal income and corporate income taxes.

#### 7.4. Others

Turkey has a broad range of indirect taxes. Besides VAT, property, motor vehicle, banking and insurance transaction, private consumption, special communication, customs duty and stamp taxes are applied in Turkey.



#### 8. Inheritance and Gift Tax

Property acquired through inheritance or gratuitously by donation, which belonged to a Turkish resident, is subject to inheritance and gift tax. Foreigners are also subject to inheritance and gift tax for their acquisitions (in the event of free transfers of ownership) of goods and property situated in Turkey. However, foreigners who acquire goods overseas from Turkish citizens are not liable for inheritance and gift tax in Turkey.

#### 8.1. Taxable Base

According to Turkish Tax Procedural Law, the tax base is determined according to the value of the acquisition after deducting any debts and costs. A progressive rate ranging from 1% to 10% is applicable for goods acquired through inheritance. Gift tax is within a range of 10% to 30% of the appraised value of the goods.

#### 8.2. Valuation

An acquisition through inheritance or gift is first valued by the person liable for the tax based on the methodologies mentioned in the Inheritance and Gift Tax Law. However, if the law does not provide for an appropriate valuation method, the tax authorities will assess the value of the acquisition in a second stage according to the methods described in the Tax Procedural Code.

#### 9. Wealth Tax

Turkey has 3 kinds of taxes on wealth: property tax, motor vehicle tax and inheritance and gift tax. Motor vehicle taxes are collected based on a fixed amount that depends on the age and engine capacity of the vehicle.

# 10. Property Tax

An annual property tax<sup>2</sup> on the tax value applies to residences (0.1%), buildings other than residences (0.2%), cultivated land (lots) (0.3%) and uncultivated land (0.1%). The tax value is determined via appraisal procedures that are performed every 4 years. The procedures are performed for each city, each street and each road. The rates are applied twice (increased from 0.1% to 0.2% for residences and from 0.2% to 0.4% for other buildings) for property located in metropolitan municipality areas like Istanbul, Ankara or Izmir.

Furthermore, an additional property tax was introduced through Law No. 7194 on 1 November 2019. In accordance with these new property tax provisions, valuable residential properties will be subject to an additional property tax as mentioned below:

Additional property tax rate to be applied	Residential property value
Exempt	up to TRY 6,173,000 (EUR 384,508)
0.3%	between TRY 6,173,000 and TRY 9,260,000 (EUR 576,792)
	(for the part exceeding TRY 6,173,000)
0.6%	between TRY 9,260,000 and TRY 12,347,000 (EUR 769,077)
	(for the part exceeding TRY 9,260,000)
1%	more than TRY 12,347,000

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The stated rates are increased by 100% if the property is within the boundaries of a metropolitan municipality.



# 11. Stamp Tax

Stamp tax applies to a wide range of documents, including, but not limited to, agreements, financial statements and payrolls. Stamp tax is levied as a percentage of the monetary value stated on the agreements at rates varying between 0.189% and 0.948%.

Stamp tax is capped at TRY 4,814,234 (EUR 299,872) for the year 2022. All signatory parties are held jointly liable for the stamp tax payment. In practice, the parties come to a mutual agreement regarding the stamp tax payment.

## 12. Special Consumption Tax

There are mainly 4 different product groups that are subject to special consumption tax at different tax rates:

- → list I relates to energy products
- → list II relates to motor vehicles
- → list III relates to alcoholic beverages and tobacco products
- → list IV relates to other consumption goods such as luxury products

Special consumption tax is assessed and collected upon the declaration of taxpayers.

There are 2 different taxation periods in a month: the first 15 days of each month, and the remaining part of the month. The special consumption tax return should be prepared and submitted by the 10<sup>th</sup> of the month following the end of the corresponding special consumption tax duty period.

32 Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investm



# 13. Resource Utilisation Support Fund

The resource utilisation supporting fund (RUSF) is applicable for loans. The RUSF is a type of charge levied on loans (as well as imports made under delayed payment terms) obtained by Turkish companies and real persons. The rate and application of the RUSF charge depends on the maturity, type and currency of the loan. The RUSF is not applicable to foreign currency loans obtained from foreign countries which have an average maturity of 3 years or longer.

The RUSF rates for foreign loans obtained by Turkish-resident real persons or companies (except for banks or financial institutions) in terms of foreign currency or gold (except for fiduciary transactions) were restructured based on average maturities as follows;

- → 3% on the principal if the average maturity period of the foreign currency credit does not exceed one year
- → 1% on the principal if the average maturity period of the foreign currency credit is between one and 2 years
- → 0.5% on the principal if the average maturity period of the foreign currency credit is between 2 and 3 years
- → 0% on the principal if the average maturity period of the foreign currency credit is over 3 years
- → 1% on the interest amount if the average maturity period of the foreign loan denominated in TRY does not exceed one year
- → 0% on the interest amount if the average maturity period of the foreign loan denominated in TRY is over one year

# 14. Real Estate Investment Companies

The concept of a 'trust' does not exist in Turkey. Real estate investment companies (REICs) are defined by the Turkish Capital Markets Board (CMB) as capital market institutions that invest in real estate, in capital market instruments based on real estate, real estate projects and rights based on real estate.

There are two types of REICs which are:

- → traditional REICs (REICS) which do mainly invest in real estates, real estate projects and real estate-based rights (no less than 51% of its portfolio)
- → infrastructure REICs (IREICs which do mainly invest in infrastructural investments and services (no less than 75% of its portfolio)

REICs are completely exempt from Turkish corporate income tax, and 0% dividend withholding tax is applicable to REICs.

A REIC must be a stock corporation. A REIC can either be a new joint-stock company (a new establishment), or an existing joint-stock corporation can convert to a REIC by amending its articles of association with the Trade Registry. Since IREICs are also specific type of REICs, these same rules regarding the legal form are also applied to IREICs as well.

New and existing joint-stock corporations that will operate as a REIC have to meet the requirements for the founders and shareholders of a REIC, as regulated under Article 7 of the related communiqué that prescribes certain qualifications for shareholders.

Regardless whether a REIC is a new corporation or an existing corporation, the founders must apply for approval from the CMB.

The minimum capital requirement for a REIC and for an IREIC are respectively TRY 64,500,000 (roughly EUR 4,018,000) and TRY 210,000,000 (roughly EUR 13,080,000) for 2022. The amount may be amended annually by the CMB.

The CMB allows companies listed on the BIST to buy their own shares if they meet certain conditions stated by the CMB decision.



#### 15. Debt Push Down

The assets and rights of Turkish REICs are subject to valuation on a yearly basis. According to the communiqué, REICs are allowed to invest in real estate and capital market instruments based on real estate, real estate projects, real-estate-related rights and capital market instruments. Capital market instruments must be traded on the stock exchange or an organised market. The purchase and sale of capital market instruments must be carried out on the exchange.

- → REICs are totally exempt from corporate income tax.
- → Dividends received by:
  - » resident corporations are subject to CIT
  - » non-resident corporations are subject to 0% withholding tax
  - » resident individuals are subject to 0% withholding tax but it is obligatory to declare half the dividends received from REICs if half of the dividends received exceeds the limit of declaration (TRY 70,000 and roughly EUR 4,360) corresponding income will be subject to income tax at progressive rates as mentioned earlier in the document
  - » non-resident individuals are subject to 0% withholding tax
- → Determining a REIC's taxable income is no different than determining the taxable income for ordinary companies in Turkey
- → The foreign corporate income of REICs is exempt from corporate income tax
- In general, 18% VAT is applied on most transactions carried out by REICs. However, some transactions are not subject to VAT, which requires further detailed analysis.

The Turkish Corporate Tax Code allows Turkish corporate taxpayers to merge in a tax-free manner under certain conditions stipulated by law. Accordingly, Turkish companies may carry out a tax-free merger if all the items of the balance sheet of the merged entity are transferred to the acquiring entity. Typically, if one of the companies has an outstanding debt, there is nothing stopping them transferring the loan to the acquiring entity. The interest expenses arising from this loan can still be deducted at the level of the acquiring entity.

There is no tax consolidation (fiscal unity) regulation under Turkish tax rules.

In this respect, a debt push down can be achieved in Turkey through a merger either by having loans in the holding company at the beginning, or by replacing capital with interest-bearing loans after the merger; both have the same result.

As per the current legislation there is no article that explicitly prohibits debt push down structures, and this has not been tested in Turkey. The only case relating to a listed oil company in Turkey was not taken to court and the company agreed to pay discounted tax penalties.

Yet since a debt push down structure – whose purpose is to make financial expenses related to an acquisition tax deductible in the acquired company – is an easy and lucrative target for inspectors, this kind of debt push down structure must be carefully analysed from a legal form and substance perspective.

36 Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investm

#### Disclaimer

WTS Global P.O. Box 19201 3001 BE Rotterdam The Netherlands info@wts.de wts.com

Contact Central Eastern Europe Tamás Gyányi tamas.gyanyi@wtsklient.hu +36 1 887 3700

The euro amounts in the booklet are calculated using the exchange rate  $EUR\ 1 = TRY\ 16.0543$ 

This issue of Tax and Investment Facts is published by WTS Global. The information is intended to provide general guidance with respect to the subject matter. This general guidance should not be relied on as a basis for undertaking any transaction or business decision, but rather the advice of a qualified tax consultant should be obtained based on a taxpayer's individual circumstances. Although our publication is carefully reviewed, we accept no responsibility in the event of any inaccuracy or omission. For further information consult your contact within WTS Global or one of the listed contacts.

# WTS Global - Locally rooted - Globally connected

#### **About**

With representation in over 100 countries, WTS Global has already grown to a leadership position as a global tax practice offering the full range of tax services and aspires to become the preeminent non-audit tax practice worldwide. WTS Global deliberately refrains from conducting annual audits in order to avoid any conflicts of interest and to be the long-term trusted adviser for its international clients. Clients of WTS Global include multinational companies, international mid-size companies as well as private clients and family offices.

The member firms of WTS Global are carefully selected through stringent quality reviews. They are strong local players in their home market who are united by the ambition of building a truly global practice that develops the tax leaders of the future and anticipates the new digital tax world.

WTS Global effectively combines senior tax expertise from different cultures and backgrounds and offers world-class skills in advisory, in-house, regulatory and digital, coupled with the ability to think like experienced business people in a constantly changing world.

For more information please see: wts.com

38 Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investment Facts 2022 | Turkey Tax and Investm



#### **WTS Turkey**

Cumhuriyet Caddesi No:38 D:3-7 34367 Harbiye-Istanbul, Turkey P + 90 212 347 41 25 F +90 212 347 41 27 M +90 543 455 05 73 mithat.erdogan@wts-turkey.com

WTS Turkey is a member of WTS Global for Turkey.

wts global

